FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/13/2023 4:37 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/14/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102378-2</u> (COA No. 56984-1-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JAMES ELLIS, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katehuber@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

James Ellis petitions for review of the Court of Appeals's June 13, 2023, published opinion, *State v. Ellis*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 530 P.3d 1048 (2023). The court denied reconsideration on August 15, 2023. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The trial court misunderstood its discretion at sentencing when it told Mr. Ellis it could not consider his youth. The Court of Appeals's opinion holding "the trial court was not required to consider Ellis's youth" conflicts with this Court's many opinions holding that sentencing courts must meaningfully consider mitigating evidence. The court's refusal to do so here constituted a failure to exercise its discretion. The opinion also conflicts with published Court of Appeals cases clarifying that a person is entitled to a de novo sentencing hearing at a *Blake*¹ resentencing. This Court should accept

¹ State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021).

review to address this conflict with other cases on this important issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

2. Monetary sanctions are subject to the Excessive Fines Clause if they are punishment and are disproportional. The Court of Appeals concluded Mr. Ellis's restitution, imposed as part of the sentence following his conviction of a crime, was not subject to the Excessive Fines Clause because it ruled restitution is not punishment. The holding that restitution is not punitive conflicts with this Court's opinions in *State v*. *Kinneman*² and *Harris v. Charles*³ and the Court of Appeals's published opinion in *State v. Ramos*⁴. This Court should accept review to address the Court of Appeals's disregard of this Court's precedent and to resolve the split between divisions one

² State v. Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d 272, 279-80, 119 P.3d 350 (2005).

³ *Harris v. Charles*, 171 Wn.2d 455, 467, 256 P.3d 328 (2011).

⁴ State v. Ramos, 24 Wn. App. 2d 204, 226, 520 P.3d 65 (2022), rev. denied, 200 Wn.2d 1033 (2023).

and two on this important constitutional issue. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

3. The Court of Appeals also concluded that, even if the restitution was punitive, it could not be grossly disproportional because it was related to actual loss, even though Mr. Ellis is unable to pay. This Court's opinion in *City of Seattle v. Long*⁵ and the published Court of Appeals's opinion in *Jacobo Hernandez v. City of Kent*⁶ recognize that article I, section 14 requires courts to consider a person's ability to pay as part of the proportionality analysis and that this factor may outweigh the others. By holding restitution corresponding to actual loss cannot be excessive, the Court of Appeals rendered consideration of ability to pay meaningless, in conflict with these cases. This Court should accept review to resolve the

⁵ City of Seattle v. Long, 198 Wn.2d 136, 158-77, 493 P.3d 94 (2021).

⁶ Jacobo Hernandez v. City of Kent, 19 Wn. App. 2d 709, 718-25, 497 P.3d 871 (2021), cert. denied, 143 S. Ct. 99 (2022).

conflict and address this issue of important substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2009, the trial court sentenced James Ellis to 25 years' imprisonment on his conviction for felony murder in the second degree and a firearm enhancement. CP 22-23. Mr. Ellis was 18 years old at the time of the incident. CP 6.

The court determined Mr. Ellis's offender score was four, resulting in a standard range of 165-265 months. CP 20. The court included in Mr. Ellis's offender score a prior conviction for unlawful possession of a controlled substance. CP 20. The court imposed a standard range sentence of 240 months, plus 60 months for the firearm enhancement, for a total sentence of 300 months. CP 22-23. The court included as part of the sentence \$7,097.32 in restitution. CP 20, 35.

In 2021, the parties returned to court for a new sentencing hearing following *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). The court began by immediately

narrowing the scope of the hearing, informing Mr. Ellis he was there only "because of the decision in *State vs. Blake* and how it might impact your sentencing." RP 4.

Mr. Ellis explained he wanted the court to consider the mitigating circumstances of his youth at the hearing. Mr. Ellis told the court, "I would like to just bring awareness of my youthfulness ... within this matter ... And hopefully you can take into consideration that." RP 5.

The court interrupted Mr. Ellis to tell him he could not raise the issue of his youth. RP 5-6. The court responded, "I'll just tell you before we get started, *that's a different issue than the one we're talking about today*." RP 5-6 (emphasis added).

After telling Mr. Ellis his youth was "a different issue" than what the court would consider at his resentencing, the court heard from the prosecutor and defense attorney. RP 6-7. The parties agreed Mr. Ellis's correct score was a three and that the resulting standard range was 154-254 months or 214-314 months with the firearm enhancement. RP 6-7; CP 39. The

prosecution asked the court to impose the same sentence of 300 months, despite the corrected offender score and standard range. RP 6. Defense counsel asked the court to reduce the sentence to 289 months to account for the 11 months lower range. RP 6-7. Counsel made that recommendation *after* the court told Mr. Ellis he could not raise the mitigating circumstance of his youth. RP 4-7.

When given the opportunity to speak, Mr. Ellis apologized for his crime and discussed the programs and education benefiting him during the 14 years he had been incarcerated. RP 8-9. He again asked the court to consider his youth. RP 8-9. Mr. Ellis explained, "I have been able to grow into a better individual than what I was when I was a kid, young." RP 9. He told the court, "I'm definitely asking for my youthfulness to be a consideration." RP 9.

The court again told Mr. Ellis it would not consider his youth, responding, "The other issue is something that you have the ability to address in a different format than what we are

doing today, Mr. Ellis." RP 9. The court imposed a mid-range

sentence of 229 months, plus 60 months for the firearm

enhancement, for a total sentence of 289 months. RP 9; CP 40.

The court also maintained restitution in the amount of

\$7,097.32. CP 35, 40.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The court misunderstood its discretion and denied Mr. Ellis a fair sentencing when it wrongly believed it could not consider Mr. Ellis's arguments that his youth mitigated his conduct.

This Court should grant review. Mr. Ellis was entitled to

a full resentencing following the reduction in his offender score,

but the trial court refused to consider the mitigating aspects of his youth or any other relevant information apart from the change in score. The opinion affirming this ruling conflicts with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and

implicates the right to fair sentencing proceedings, which is an

issue of substantial public interest.

a. <u>Mr. Ellis was entitled to a full resentencing and to</u> <u>have the court consider his arguments about the</u> <u>mitigating circumstances of his youth.</u>

When a court imposes a sentence based on an incorrect offender score, the sentence is unauthorized by statute and is unlawful. *In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 867-68, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). The court "has the power and duty to correct the erroneous sentence" in such circumstances. *Id.* at 869 (internal quotations omitted).

Once an erroneous sentence is vacated, it "no longer exists as a final judgment on the merits," and the court at a resentencing hearing must independently determine the appropriate sentence. *State v. Harrison*, 148 Wn.2d 550, 561-62, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003). Such resentencings are de novo. *State v. Dunbar*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 532 P.3d 652, 656 (2023); *State v. Edwards*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 118, 122, 514 P.3d 692 (2022).

At sentencing, the court must consider any relevant evidence or argument presented. "When a trial court is called on to make a discretionary sentencing decision, the court must meaningfully consider the request in accordance with the applicable law." *State v. McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). This includes meaningfully considering mitigating evidence. *State v. Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). Where a court does not exercise or misapprehends its discretion, a person is entitled to a new sentencing hearing. *Id.; State v. McFarland*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 528, 531, 492 P.3d 829 (2021). Similarly, where a court misunderstands the scope of its discretion, a person is entitled to a new sentencing hearing. *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 56.

The "outright refusal of a trial court to consider sentencing argument is error." *State v. Mutch*, 171 Wn.2d 646, 654 n.1, 254 P.3d 803 (2011). So too is a court's belief it lacks the discretion to consider an argument. *State v. Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 166 P.3d 677 (2007). b. <u>The court misunderstood its discretion at resentencing</u> when it told Mr. Ellis it could not consider his arguments on youth and directed him to raise the "different issue" of his youth in "a different format."

Mr. Ellis appeared before the court for a new sentencing hearing following the change in his offender score. The trial court misunderstood the scope of the hearing and did not exercise its discretion to determine the appropriate sentence in the first instance. Instead, the court believed it was limited to the impact of *Blake* and that the issue of Mr. Ellis's youth at the time of the crime was "a different issue" he would have to address "in a different format." RP 4, 9.

The court unlawfully limited the scope of its discretion by determining Mr. Ellis's sentencing hearing was only to consider "the decision in State vs. Blake and how it might impact [his] sentence" and by ruling the potential mitigation of Mr. Ellis's youth was "a different issue" he had to address "in a different format." RP 4, 6, 9. The court's conclusion that it could consider only "the decision in State vs. Blake," not the

"different issue" of Mr. Ellis's youth was incorrect and artificially limited the court's authority. RP 4-6.

The court impermissibly prevented Mr. Ellis from presenting evidence and argument about the mitigating circumstances of his youth. RP 4-9. Mr. Ellis told the court, "I would like to just bring awareness of my youthfulness" and asked the court to "take into consideration that." RP 5. He explained that in the 14 years since he committed the crime, "I have been able to grow into a better individual than what I was when I was a kid, young," and discussed the programs and education from which he was able to benefit while in prison. RP 8-9

He said to the judge, "Your Honor, all I'm just asking within you is to use your discretion in taking my youthfulness into consideration." RP 8. He discussed the "toxic environment" in which he grew up and apologized for his crime. RP 8. He concluded by saying, "I'm definitely asking for my youthfulness to be a consideration." RP 9.

The court rebuffed Mr. Ellis and narrowly limited the scope of the hearing. It told him his youth was "a different issue than the one we're talking about today." RP 6. The court explained to Mr. Ellis he would have to raise his youth "in a different format than what we are doing today." RP 9. The court did so based on its erroneous belief it was limited to considering "the decision in State vs. Blake and how it might impact your sentencing." RP 4.

Mr. Ellis was entitled to raise any relevant issues, including his youth, and to request any lawful sentence. Thus, the court improperly failed to exercise its discretion when it told Mr. Ellis it would not consider evidence or argument concerning the mitigating circumstances of his youth at the time of the crime.

c. <u>The Court of Appeals improperly excused the trial</u> <u>court's abuse of discretion, in conflict with opinions</u> <u>holding courts must meaningfully consider evidence at de</u> <u>novo sentencing hearings after *Blake*.</u>

The Court of Appeals agreed that the inclusion of a void conviction in Mr. Ellis's offender score rendered the score

incorrect and the resulting sentencing unlawful, entitling him to a full resentencing. Slip op. at 4. It also recognized that the trial court did not consider his youth, despite Mr. Ellis's request that it do so. Slip op. at 4. But the appellate court nevertheless concluded, "The trial court was not required to consider Ellis's youth when sentencing him" because Mr. Ellis was 18 years old at the time of his offense. Slip op. at 4. The court's opinion conflicts with the multiple cases addressing sentencings discussed above. The opinion's misunderstanding over the scope of available mitigating evidence also presents a constitutional issue of substantial public interest. This Court should accept review.

State v. O'Dell clarified that when a person raises the issue of their youth, as Mr. Ellis did here, courts may consider youth as relevant to the appropriate sentence even if the person is 18 or older. 183 Wn.2d 680, 694-96, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). Developments in neuroscience have helped the legal community understand that "the parts of the brain involved in

behavior control continue to develop well into a person's 20s," *Id.* at 691-92, and that the "bright line" courts previously drew at age 18 was completely arbitrary. *In re Pers. Restraint of Monschke*, 197 Wn.2d 305, 308, 482 P.3d 276 (2021).

Mr. Ellis was well within his rights to ask the court to consider the mitigating circumstances of his youth. But the court told him it would not consider the issue. The court's refusal to consider mitigating evidence conflicts with this Court's cases that require courts to consider mitigating evidence at sentencing. *Grayson*, 154 Wn.2d at 342; *McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d at 56.

The Court of Appeals's conclusion that the court's error in refusing to consider youth was harmless because Mr. Elis "received the sentencing his defense counsel requested" is patently incorrect. Slip op. at 5. Counsel requested a particular sentence only *after* the court informed Mr. Ellis his youth was "a different issue" that the court would not consider. *Compare* RP 4-6 (court telling Mr. Ellis it would not consider his youth),

with RP 6-7 (defense's later request for 289 month sentence).The court then repeated its erroneous belief, again telling Mr.Ellis he would have to raise the "different issue" of his youth in"a different format." RP 9.

The Court of Appeals's opinion also conflicts with the published opinion in *State v. Dunbar*, 532 P.3d 652. *Dunbar* held resentencings following *Blake* "should be de novo" and that judges must "exercise independent discretion" not merely defer to the prior judge's sentencing decision. *Id.* at 656.

Mr. Dunbar, like Mr. Ellis, returned to court for resentencing following *Blake*. *Dunbar*, 532 P.3d at 654. Unlike Mr. Ellis, Mr. Dunbar's standard range on the convictions did not change because his scores remained in the mid-20s, well above a 9. *Id.* The resentencing court would not consider Mr. Dunbar's evidence of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 654-55.

The Court of Appeals held Mr. Dunbar was denied his right to a de novo resentencing hearing and reversed. *Id.* at 658. It ruled resentencing judges "should be able to take new

matters into account" including evidence of rehabilitation, and that courts must "entertain any relevant evidence" impacting sentencing. *Id.* at 656. Indeed, sentencing courts must "consider any matters relevant to sentencing, even those that may not have been raised at the first sentencing hearing" because it is a de novo sentencing. *Id.* at 658.

Contrary to *Dunbar*, the court here did not conduct a de novo sentencing proceeding. The court failed to exercise its independent discretion to determine the appropriate sentence when it told Mr. Ellis he could not consider his arguments about youth. This Court should accept review to address to address this important issue of substantial public interest and resolve the conflict with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

2. The Court of Appeals's opinion holding that restitution is not punitive conflicts with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

This Court should grant review of the restitution issue as well. The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Ellis's challenge that his restitution violated the Excessive Fines Clause by ruling restitution is not punitive. This holding conflicts with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals, and raises an issue of substantial public interest.

a. Article I, section 14 prohibits excessive fines.

Article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution and the Eighth Amendment prohibit the imposition of "excessive fines." Article I, section 14 provides, "Excessive bail shall not be required, excessive fines imposed, nor cruel punishment inflicted." Const. art. I, § 14. The Eighth Amendment similarly states, "Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted." U.S. Const. amend. VIII. These constitutional prohibitions against excessive fines "guard[] against abuses of government's punitive or criminal law-enforcement authority" and offer protection "fundamental to our scheme of ordered liberty." Timbs v. Indiana, U.S. , 139 S. Ct. 682, 686, 203 L. Ed. 2d 11 (2019).

Because "the United States Constitution establishes a floor below which state courts cannot go to protect individual rights," article I, section 14 must be at least as protective as the Eighth Amendment, and cases interpreting the federal constitution apply equally to Washington's constitution. *State v. Sieves*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 292, 225 P.3d 995 (2010).

b. <u>This Court has already held restitution is punitive.</u>

A monetary sanction is a "fine" subject to the Excessive Fines Clause if it is a sanction or penalty that is "at least partially punitive." *Timbs*, 139 S. Ct. at 689; *City of Seattle v*. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 163, 493 P.3d 94 (2021).

In *State v. Kinneman*, this Court held categorically that "restitution is punishment." 155 Wn.2d 272, 281, 119 P.3d 350 (2005); *see id.* at 280 n.9 (collecting cases recognizing restitution is punishment). Because restitution "is both punitive and compensatory" and is part of a person's sentence, it qualifies as punishment. *Id.* at 280-81. The dual nature of restitution as punitive and compensatory renders restitution "at least partially punitive" and therefore subject to the Excessive Fines Clause. *Timbs*, 139 S. Ct. at 689. The Court of Appeals followed *Kinneman* and recognized restitution is punitive and subject to excessive fines analyses in *State v. Ramos*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 204, 224-25, 520 P.3d 65 (2022), *rev. denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1033 (2023).

Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have held that restitution is categorically punitive.

c. <u>The Court of Appeals contradicted this Court's</u> <u>opinion in *Kinneman* and wrongly held restitution is</u> <u>not punitive.</u>

Despite this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals disregarded *Kinneman* and departed from *Ramos* to hold "the restitution the court ordered was not punitive" and so "the excessive fines clause does not apply." Slip op. at 9. The Court of Appeals did so by rejecting the categorical analysis of *Kinneman* and ruling that a court must analyze each individual restitution order to determine if it is punitive in that particular case. Slip op. at 9. Because it determined Mr. Ellis's restitution was to reimburse the crime victim compensation program, it ruled it was not punitive. Slip op. at 8-9. The Court of Appeals's piecemeal approach contradicts this Court's holdings.

First, nothing in *Kinneman* supports an individualized approach. The Court reviewed restitution as category of fines and concluded it is punitive. *Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d at 279-81. It did not endorse considering the individual restitution imposed in each separate case.

Second, this categorical approach is supported by this Court's opinion in *Harris v. Charles*, 171 Wn.2d 455, 256 P.3d 328 (2011). In *Harris*, the Court considered whether the denial of credit for electronic home monitoring time violated the Double Jeopardy Clause. 171 Wn.2d at 467. The Court ruled that "to determine whether a government action is punitive ... [w]e first look to the express or implied intent of the government sanction." *Id.* The Court looked at the action–

2●

denial of time credit–categorically, not on a case-by-case basis. *Id.* at 467-69. Because the rule governing time credit "is not punitive in its intent," the Court determined it was not punishment and therefor double jeopardy did not apply. *Id.* at 470.

That *Kinneman* addressed the right to a jury trial under the Sixth Amendment argument and *Harris* addressed the prohibition against double jeopardy under the Fifth Amendment does not change the punitive nature of restitution, contrary to the Court of Appeals's conclusion. Slip op. at 9. The nature of restitution is not distinct across the different constitutional rights. Restitution is categorically punitive for all constitutional purposes.

This Court has already held restitution is at least partially punitive. *Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d at 279; *Ramos*, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 226 (*"Kinneman* determined that the legislature intended restitution to be partially punitive."). It has rejected an individualized analysis in favor of a review of the legislative

intent. *Harris*, 171 Wn.2d at 467-70. The Court of Appeals rejected both of these approaches, contrary to this Court's cases. This Court should accept review.

3. The Court of Appeals's opinion holding that restitution related to victim losses cannot be disproportional, even when a person does not have the ability to pay, is contrary to the Excessive Fines Clause and prior opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Although the Court of Appeals held Mr. Ellis's

restitution was not punitive and that the Excessive Fines Clause did not apply, it alternatively rejected Mr. Ellis's challenge by deciding that the restitution was not excessive, even if it was punitive. Slip op. at 10-11. To do so, the court ruled an inability to pay cannot render a fine disproportional when the amount is related to actual loss. Slip op. at 10. This Court should grant review because the opinion contradicts article I, section 14 and opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals and presents a constitutional issue of substantial public interest.

a. <u>Long established courts must consider ability to pay</u> when determining whether a fine is excessive.

"The touchstone of the constitutional inquiry under the Excessive Fines Clause is the principle of proportionality." *Long*, 198 Wn.2d at 166 (quoting *United States v. Bajakajian*, 524 U.S. 321, 334, 118 S. Ct. 2028, 141 L. Ed. 2d 314 (1998)). "[E]xcessiveness concerns more than just an offense itself; it also includes consideration of an offender's circumstances." *Id.* at 171. Whether a particular fine is excessive will vary from person to person. *Id.*

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