FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/13/2023 11:27 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102378-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES LARON ELLIS,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Philip K. Sorenson

No. 08-1-01518-3

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Petitioner's first argument relies upon the false factual premise that the sentencing court refused to consider Ellis' youth.

Ellis' first argument relies entirely upon the false premise that the court of appeals found that the superior court refused to listen to his allocution. Pet. Rev. at 13 (claiming the court of appeals "recognized that the trial court did not consider his youth"). This misrepresents the decisions of both courts. The court of appeals found the sentencing court *did not limit the scope of the hearing*.

Ellis argues that he is entitled to be resentenced because the trial court declined to consider his youth when imposing his sentence. We disagree.²

²Initially, Ellis argues at length that he was entitled to a full resentencing. However, the record reflects that Ellis received a full resentencing hearing.

Slip Op. at 4. Ellis received a full sentencing in which the court considered everything that was before it.

Ellis' interpretation of the sentencing record disregards context. The court's concern was for Ellis' *preparedness*.

Do you feel you are prepared to move forward today with the issues we have to talk about?

. . . .

Okay, I'll just tell you before we get started, that's a different issue than the one we're talking about today. That certainly is an issue that the courts have acknowledged is something that should be taken into account in certain circumstances. Do you believe you are prepared to go forward today?

RP 5-6. Youth that diminishes culpability can be the basis for an exceptional sentence. But the proponent of departure has the burden of proving sufficient facts in support of a substantial and compelling reason. *State v. Gregg*, 196 Wn.2d 473, 474 P.3d 539 (2020). And Ellis had not filed a mitigation package or summonsed any witness in support of an exceptional sentence. The court's comment was an inquiry into whether the Defendant was prepared to move forward or whether more time was needed to gather evidence and arguments in support of an exceptional sentence.

Ellis' claim that he believed the court told him it would not consider youth is disingenuous because this was the entirety of his uninterrupted allocution. He emphasized that he had only been 19 when he entered prison. RP 8. "I am definitely a different individual, and I have been able to grow into a better individual than what I was when I was a kid, young, and let alone what I would have been if I were to continue to have been out there in that toxic environment that I come from." RP 9. He asked the judge "to use your discretion in taking my youthfulness into consideration." RP 8. It is not reasonable to understand that Ellis interpreted from the court's initial remarks that it was refusing to consider youth when he then engaged in that very discussion.

Nor is there any factual basis to support Ellis's allegation that his attorney's sentencing recommendation changed following the court's inquiry into Ellis' preparedness. Pet. Rev. at 14-15. The attorney had not filed a sentencing memorandum or mitigation package. She did not bring witnesses in support of a mitigation argument. She made no comment to suggest that she supported an exceptional sentence. RP 6-7. Instead, she came prepared with a persuasive argument in support of a

proportional reduction of the sentence based on the changed offender score. RP 6-7. The record shows that the youth argument was the client's alone. RP 5, 8-9.

The court did not put any limitations on the hearing. On the contrary, it made very clear that the proceeding would be a sentencing. RP 4-5. The court did not prohibit Ellis from requesting an exceptional sentence on any basis. Ultimately, Ellis' argument simply did not establish that the offense was mitigated by immaturity or even that Ellis was immature at the time of the offense. The judge then imposed exactly the sentence that Ellis requested.

B. Petitioner's dispute over the interpretation of facts does not meet a consideration under RAP 13.4(b).

A dispute over the interpretation of facts will not support a petition for review. RAP 13.4(b). Because the facts are other than Ellis claims, there is no conflict with any case and no matter of substantial public interest.

Following a pattern of taking quotations out of context,

Ellis misrepresents that the court of appeals found that a

sentencing court may refuse to consider a party's arguments. Pet. Rev. at 13 (quoting that a court was "not required" to consider youth). In fact, this section of the opinion discusses the differences between adult and juvenile defendants. The court of appeals' opinion is not in conflict with any case where it notes that a court is only mandated to consider youth independent of the parties' raising the matter in the case of a juvenile offender. Slip Op. at 4-5 (citing State v. Nevarez, 24 Wn. App. 2d 56, 61-62, 519 P.3d 252 (2022), rev. denied, 1 Wn.3d 1005 (2023)); accord In re the Pers. Restraint of Kennedy, 200 Wn.2d 1, 23 n. 5, 513 P.3d 769 (2022). Nor is there any conflict where the opinion notes that while a court has discretion to depart downward on the basis of an adult's immaturity, Ellis did not request a departure. Slip Op. at 4-5 (citing State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015)). Therefore, the sentencing court considered whether all of Ellis' arguments supported his request for a 289-month sentence and found they did.

Ellis's claim of a conflict with *State v. Dunbar*, --Wn. App. 3d --, 532 P.3d 652 (2023) relies on the false premise that the sentencing court refused to consider Ellis' allocution. Pet. Rev. at 15. Because the court of appeals did not find that the sentencing court refused to consider any argument before it, including Ellis' claims of rehabilitation, there is no conflict.

Because there is no dispute on the law, Ellis has not provided a basis for discretionary review.

C. The court of appeals' determination that restitution was not punitive under the facts of this case does not conflict with *State v. Kinneman*.

Ellis argues that the opinion conflicts with *State v. Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d 272, 279-80, 119 P.3d 350 (2005). Pet. Rev. at 18-19. In fact, *Kinneman* is precisely the case upon which the opinion relied in reaching its conclusion that, "because the specific restitution ordered here was solely compensatory, it was not punishment for purposes of the excessive fines clause." Slip Op. at 8. There is no conflict.

[T]he Supreme Court has never held that the Excessive Fines Clause applies to restitution

awards. See Paroline v. United States, 572 U.S. 434, 455–56, 134 S.Ct. 1710, 188 L.Ed.2d 714 (2014) ("To be sure, this Court has said that 'the Excessive Fines Clause was intended to limit only those fines directly imposed by, and payable to, the government.' ") (quoting Browning–Ferris Industries of Vt., Inc. v. Kelco Disposal, Inc., 492 U.S. 257, 268, 109 S.Ct. 2909, 106 L.Ed.2d 219 (1989)).

United States v. Gozes-Wagner, 977 F.3d 323, 347–48 (5th Cir. 2020).

Again, Ellis ignores context. "Kinneman did not address whether restitution was punitive for purposes of the excessive fines clause." Slip Op. at 9. Instead, the Kinneman court held that there is no right to a jury determination of restitution because, unlike standard sentence ranges, there is no minimum or maximum amount of restitution that must be paid as a result of a conviction. Kinneman, 155 Wn.2d at 282. In its analysis, the Court considered whether, as a general principle, restitution was punishment, and noted that restitution has the ability to be both punitive and compensatory. *Id.* at 280-81. It is compensatory, "because it is connected to a victim's losses."

Slip Op. at 8 (citing *Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d at 280). And it has the ability to be punitive, because a judge may "order restitution in an amount that is double a victim's loss, which necessarily exceeds what is necessary to compensate a victim." Slip Op. at 8 (citing *Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d at 280 and RCW 9.94A.753(3)).

Contrary to Ellis' claim, the *Kinneman* opinion nowhere states that restitution is "categorically punitive." Pet. Rev. at 19. Moreover, in a more recent opinion, the Washington supreme court has stated that restitution's primary purpose is rehabilitation. *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 929, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012); *State v. Barr*, 99 Wn.2d 75, 79, 658 P.2d 1247 (1983) (restitution increases a defendant's self-awareness and sense of control over one's life and reduces recidivism).

Restitution is an effective rehabilitative penalty because it forces the defendant to confront, in concrete terms, the harm his actions have caused. Such a penalty will affect the defendant differently than a traditional fine, paid to the State as an abstract and impersonal entity, and often calculated without regard to the harm the defendant has caused. Similarly, the direct relation between the harm and

the punishment gives restitution a more precise deterrent effect than a traditional fine.

Kelly v. Robinson, 479 U.S. 36, 49 n.10, 107 S. Ct. 353, 361, 93 L. Ed. 2d 216 (1986).

The question here is not the nature of restitution in the abstract, but whether it is punishment *in Ellis' case*. Slip. Op. at 9 ("the proper inquiry is whether the restitution ordered *in a particular case* is punitive"). The court noted that it parted ways with *State v. Ramos*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 204, 224-25, 520 P.3d 65 (2022), *rev. denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1033 (2023) on this point, although both cases ultimately reached the same result—a rejection of defendants' excessive fines claim. Slip. Op. at 9.

Due to Ellis' failure to object below, the full restitution information is not in the record. Even so, it is apparent that his restitution order is not punitive. When restitution for a victim is payable to Crime Victims Compensation, as in this case, the amount may only be for actual losses. RCW 7.68.070. In fact, here the restitution does not even cover all of the victim's funeral expenses. CP 36.

The court held "that because the restitution imposed on Ellis was not punitive, the excessive fines clause does not apply." Slip Op. at 9. This decision does not conflict with *Kinneman*.

D. The court of appeals considered Ellis' ability to pay in determining that restitution was proportionate.

Ellis argues that the opinion "disregarded" *City of Seattle* v. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d 136, 158-77, 493 P.3d 94 (2021). Pet. Rev. at 26, 29. In fact, *Long* is precisely the case upon which the opinion relied in reaching its conclusion that "the restitution imposed on Ellis was not constitutionally excessive." Slip Op. at 10-11. Ellis' disagreement with the court's weighing of factors does not establish a conflict of case law. There is no conflict.

The *Long* court added a fifth factor to the proportionality analysis. *Long*, 198 Wn.2d at 167, 173. A court considers 1) the nature and extent of the crime, (2) whether the violation was related to other illegal activities, (3) the other penalties that may be imposed for the violation, (4) the extent of the harm caused, and (5) the person's ability to pay. *Id*.

Ellis misrepresents that the court of appeals' "holding" is "that restitution reflecting victim loss cannot be disproportional." Pet. Rev. at 29. This is not the court's holding. Its holding is that the restitution was not constitutionally excessive. Slip Op. at 11.

Ellis misrepresents that the court of appeals did not consider his ability to pay. Pet. Rev. at 26 (arguing the court saw ability to pay as an "exempt" factor in an order for actual losses, rather than a "necessary consideration"). He would have this Court believe that the totality of the court's analysis was an appreciation for the idea that proportionality is built into a restitution order limited to actual losses. This is a deception because the analysis *did not stop there*. "Further, application of the five-factor test articulated in *Long* supports the conclusion that the restitution imposed was not constitutionally excessive." *Id.* The court considered the fifth factor, stating the joint and several order for partial burial expenses of \$7000:

is not so high that it would be inconceivable that Ellis would be able to pay that amount at some point after being released from prison. And RCW 7.68.120(5) allows the Department of Labor and Industries to waive, modify downward, or otherwise adjust the amount of restitution "in the interest of justice, the well-being of the victim, and the rehabilitation of the individual." This means that there is a statutory mechanism through which Ellis's restitution amount may be reduced or eliminated.

Slip Op. at 11.

The court did not ignore the fifth factor. However, Ellis has ignored the first four. The weight each factor is accorded will vary by case. *Jacobo Hernandez v. City of Kent*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 709, 724 n. 14, 497 P.3d 871 (2021), *cert. denied*, 143 S. Ct. 99 (2022). And Ellis' offense was not a mere parking violation or a drug offense as in *Long* and *Jacobo Hernandez*.

Ellis' position is that restitution can never be imposed upon a criminal defendant whose sentence includes any period of incarceration. Pet. Rev. at 27 (claiming incarceration as the basis of his indigency²). In other words, the greater one's culpability the less one's responsibility to make amends. Neither *Long* nor *Jacobo Hernandez* support such a conclusion.

Ellis' misrepresentation of the court of appeals' opinion does not establish a conflict of case law or a basis for discretionary review.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny discretionary review predicated on misinterpretations of the statements of both the superior court and the court of appeals.

///

///

² "[T]here has been no finding that Ellis is indigent." Slip Op. at 12.

This document is in 14-point font and contains 3,683 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.